EFFECTS OF ALT-711 TREATMENT ON AGE-RELATED CEREBROVASCULAR DYSFUNCTION AND COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT IN AGED MICE

by

MAXWELL ETHAN BRAKER

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Multidisciplinary Science and the Robert D. Clark Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science

June 2023

An Abstract of the Thesis of

Maxwell Braker for the degree of Bachelor Science in the Department of Multidisciplinary Science to be taken June 2023

Title: Effects of ALT-711 Treatment on Age-Related Cerebrovascular Dysfunction and Cognitive Impairment in Aged Mice

> Approved: <u>Ashley Walker, PhD</u> Primary Thesis Advisor

As the life expectancy for humans continues to increase, the prevalence of age-related diseases is rising. Specifically, humans are becoming more at risk for cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases. As a result, it is important to understand the physiology behind agerelated cognitive impairment so that we can propose solutions and treatments for these diseases. There are many factors that can lead to aging of the brain. Specifically, large artery stiffness is a strong predictor of cerebrovascular dysfunction. Large artery stiffness occurs because of the accumulation of advanced glycation end-products, or AGEs, in blood vessels. This study used wild type C57BL/6 mice to determine the impact that Alagebrium Chloride, or ALT-711 - a drug that breaks AGEs - has with regards to improving cerebrovascular function and cognition in aged mice. C57BL/6 mice treated with Alt-711, via oral gavage, were compared to C57BL/6 mice without treatment. We found that ALT-711 did not impact large artery stiffness, nitric oxide mediated dilation in cerebral endothelial cells, cognition, or motor coordination (p>0.05 for all). However, the data revealed that posterior cerebral artery (PCA) elastic modulus is correlated with motor coordination and instinctual behavior. In addition, cerebral artery endothelial function is correlated with motor coordination. The results of this study give insight about the efficacy of ALT-711 treatment on preserving cerebrovascular function and cognition, and it also helps expand our knowledge about which treatments work for large artery stiffness prevention in mice.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Ashley Walker for the opportunity to conduct research in the Aging and Vascular Physiology Laboratory. This lab was an integral part of my college experience, and I feel lucky and honored to have been a part of it. I would also like to thank Emily Reeve for serving as the third reader on my thesis committee and being the absolute best mentor that I could ask for. Her continuous guidance and advice were invaluable to my pursuit of becoming a better scientist and a better person. Lastly, thank you to Brian McWhorter for serving as the CHC advisor on my thesis committee. His flexibility, communication and availability made the thesis process smooth and manageable.

I also want to express gratitude towards Dr. Abby Cullen, Mackenzie Kehmeier, Deanna Choi, and Sky Ferguson for their continuous support and help throughout my time in the lab. Also, thank you to the other undergraduate students in the AVP lab. Our comradery and cordiality made the lab a welcoming, enjoyable place.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family. I feel very lucky to have such a strong, loyal support system around me. I am thankful and grateful to have amazing people in my life.

Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Methods 6	
Animals and Tissues	6
Cerebrovascular function	6
Passive stiffness	7
Artery Histology	8
Accelerating Rotarod Test	8
Nest Building	9
Statistical Analysis	9
Results	10
Ex vivo cerebral artery endothelial-dependent dilation and endothelial-independen dilation were not different between ALT-711 and control groups	t 10
Passive stiffness showed that wall thickness in the PCA and carotid artery was not different between ALT-11 and control groups. Collagen-1 immunofluorescence revealed that the thickness of the media layer of the carotid artery and MCA was not different across groups, and that the sum of the media layer and the adventitia layer the carotid artery was thicker in the control group compared to the ALT-711 group, but this was not different for the MCA's.	t of 12
Elastin and collagen content in the arterial wall of the carotid artery and MCA was n different between groups	ot 16
Arterial stiffness in PCA and carotid arteries was not different between ALT-711 and control groups	d 20
Instinctual behavior was not different between ALT-711 and control groups	27
Motor coordination	28
Correlations	29
Discussion	30
ALT-711 did not improve cerebrovascular function	30
ALT-711 did not influence large artery stiffness	31
ALT-711 did not alter instinctual behavior or motor coordination	32
Correlations	33
Limitations and Future Research	35
Conclusion	37
Bibliography	38

List of Figures

Figure 1: Vasodilation response to doses of ACh in the presence and absence of L-NAME, measured in PCAs in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	10
Figure 2: Endothelial independent dilation to doses of SNP, measured in PCA's in ALT-11 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	11
Figure 3: <i>Ex vivo</i> arterial wall thickness in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	13
Figure 4: Thickness of the media layer of the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	14
Figure 5: Thickness of the media and adventitia layer of the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	15
Figure 6: Percent area of the arterial wall made up of elastin in the carotid artery and MCA, va autofluorescence, in ALT-711 and control groups.	ia 16
Figure 7: Percent area of the arterial wall made up of collagen in the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 and control groups.	17
Figure 8: Cross section of carotid artery after collage-1 immunofluorescence in control group (n=7).	18
Figure 9: Cross section of carotid artery after collagen-1 immunofluorescence in ALT-711 group (n=8).	19
Figure 10: β stiffness in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	20
Figure 11: Elastic modulus at low pressures in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and cont (n=7) groups.	rol 21
Figure 12: Elastic modulus at high pressures in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	22
Figure 13: PCA <i>ex vivo</i> stress-strain curves in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	23
Figure 14: Carotid artery <i>ex vivo</i> stress-strain curves in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	24
Figure 15: Change in internal diameter of PCA to increasing pressure in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	25
Figure 16: Changes in internal diameter of carotid artery to increasing pressure in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.	26
Figure 17: Nest building scores for ALT-711(n=8) and control groups (n=7).	27
Figure 18: Average time spent on rotarod for ALT-711 (n=8) and control groups (n=7).	28
Figure 19: (A) The average maximum dilation to ACh is positively correlated with average rotarod time and (B) PCA low elastic modulus is negatively correlated with average rotarod time and nest building scores and (C) PCA low elastic modulus is negatively correlated with nest	me
building scores *p<0.05	29

List of Tables

 Table 1: Nest Building Score Parameters (Deacon 2012).

Introduction

With increasing standards of living and a growing body of knowledge on health and physiology, humans are living longer than ever. In developed countries, life expectancy has nearly doubled in the past century (Shetty et al., 2018). In fact, the number of people over 65 years old in the U.S. is projected to become ~25% of the population within the next 40 years (Shetty et al., 2018). This has significantly raised the prevalence of age-related diseases and cardiovascular ailments (Yazdanyar, A. & Newman A. B., 2009). To promote the maintenance of overall health as well as push for a higher quality of life, there is an urgent need to understand these age-related pathologies so that medical interventions can be employed.

As humans age, evidence suggests that their large arteries, namely the carotid artery and the aorta, become stiffer. This is due to the breakdown or increased fragmentation of elastin, an extracellular matrix protein important for arterial elasticity and dilation, as well as an increase in crosslinking of collagen, a main structural protein that provides support and strength (Walker et al., 2021). In healthy individuals, collagen and elastin are present in proper amounts, which allows for sufficient elasticity within the large arteries. This large artery elasticity dampens the pulsatile flow of blood before it enters the brain. In turn, it protects the brain's sensitive microvasculature from damage and degradation (Chirinos, J. A. et al., 2019). However, stiffer large arteries cannot dampen this pulsatile flow as effectively, leading to increased pulse pressure to smaller, systemic arteries (Chirinos, J. A. et al., 2019). As a result, the increased pulse pressure to the brain causes damage to the cerebrovasculature and results in impaired neuronal communication, cerebral hypoperfusion, and ultimately cognitive impairment (Cooper & Mitchell 2016).

Notably, there is evidence that suggests that arterial stiffness may cause dysfunction of the endothelial cells of cerebral arteries (Donato et al., 2018). Endothelial cells play a key role in the dilation and constriction of arteries (Cyr et al., 2020). In doing so, they act as effective blood flow regulators to the brain - an important and essential function.

An understanding of the mechanism by which they promote dilation and constriction is crucial to this study. At large, endothelial cells regulate cerebral blood flow by releasing chemical signals that will communicate with the smooth muscle surrounding the arteries to either dilate or constrict the vessel (Luscher & Barton, 1997). Specifically, one signal that causes endothelial cells to release vasodilators is acetylcholine (ACh) (Luscher & Barton, 1997). When ACh enters the endothelium, it activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Elhusseiny et al., 1999). Once activated, eNOS produces nitric oxide (NO) - a vasodilator. After NO is produced, it passes through to smooth muscle cells where it causes relaxation and thus dilation of the arteries. This mechanism may be impaired in individuals whose arteries are stiffer. The entrance of unregulated, high pulsatile flow into the brain promotes dysfunction of cerebral endothelial cells (Thorin-Trescases et al., 2018). As a result, their function is impaired and their ability to cause dilation, or respond to doses of ACh, could be impaired or diminished. For this reason, ACh is a useful tool to evaluate the function of endothelial cells in ex vivo studies. These results can be helpful for elucidating the relationship between large artery stiffness and cerebrovascular dysfunction.

In addition to large artery stiffness and cerebrovascular dysfunction, another common characteristic of vascular aging is the accumulation of oxidative stress (Ionescu-Tucker & Cotman 2021). The various complex physiological processes that occur in the human body have necessary metabolic byproducts. Among the most common and impactful metabolic byproducts

are reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS primarily results from mitochondrial respiration as they are byproducts of the electron transport chain (Ionescu-Tucker & Cotman 2021). At basal levels, they can function as useful cellular messengers and mediators of the cell cycle (Dumas & Knaus, 2021). However, accumulation of ROS throughout a lifespan can have harmful effects such as inducing cell apoptosis, promoting chronic inflammation, and causing mitochondrial dysfunction (Jahan et al., 2022). However, perhaps one of the most relevant consequences of ROS is its role in reducing NO bioavailability. ROS are unstable free radicals, so they are very reactive. As a result, excess circulating ROS will react with NO ultimately impairing the ability of endothelial cells to induce dilation (Csiszar et al., 2002). For this reason, decreasing the amount of ROS and preserving NO bioavailability is a focal point for potential treatment options targeted towards age-related cerebrovascular dysfunction and cognitive impairment.

Evidence from animal studies support the idea that age-related arterial stiffening is highly related to the accumulation of AGEs (Sajithlal et al., 1998). AGEs are a group of compounds that are formed via the combination of glucose with proteins or lipids in the blood (Rowan et al., 2018). There are two primary ways that they accumulate; endogenous and exogenous pathways. Endogenous AGEs are formed as byproducts from glycolysis and oxidative stress conditions within the body. Exogenous AGEs come from outside sources -- that is, they are diet derived. Specifically, a higher sugar diet and the consumption of highly processed food will accelerate the accumulation of AGEs in the body (Sharifi-Zahabi et al., 2021).

As these AGEs circulate within the vasculature, they can have various harmful physiological effects. Namely, they can promote crosslinking of collagen, which leads to vessel stiffness. They also alter crucial programmed cell death pathways (Waghela et al., 2020). In addition, the interaction of AGE with its transmembrane receptor, RAGE, is a mechanism that

can lead to a buildup of oxidative stress within the body. Once RAGE and AGE are bound together, this can lead to a buildup of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as well as the induction of inflammatory signaling cascades (Sharifi-Zahabi et al., 2021). As discussed previously, ROS can decrease the bioavailability of NO and thus result in dysfunction of endothelial cells. Without healthy endothelium, blood flow to the brain cannot be effectively regulated. Overtime, this can lead to chronic hypoperfusion and potentially result in cognitive impairment (Wang et al., 2018).

With increasing evidence indicating that there is an association between large artery stiffness and cognitive impairment, breaking these AGEs are proposed to be a new method for alleviating cognitive decline by maintaining arterial elasticity and ultimately preserving cerebrovascular function (Kass et al., 2001). Alagebrium Chloride, or ALT-711, is a molecule that serves to break the crosslinks caused by AGEs. As a result, this drug diminishes collagen cross linking and therefore decrease arterial stiffness (Zieman et al., 2007). Further, employment of ALT-711 could inhibit the pathological AGE-RAGE interactions; this would decrease oxidative stress, restore NO bioavailability, and thus preserve endothelial function. At large, cognition and overall executive function could be improved after the administration of Alt-711.

The mechanisms of AGE formation and oxidative stress are well-understood phenomena. In addition, there is evidence supporting the association between age-related increases in large artery stiffness and cerebrovascular dysfunction. However, it is unknown whether preventing age-related large artery stiffness, via an AGE breaker such as Alt-711, will also preserve cerebrovascular function. This study aims to reveal this relationship and shed light on the mechanisms of cerebrovascular dysfunction and cognitive impairment associated with aging.

Methods

Animals and Tissues

Mice were obtained from the National Institute on Aging colony at Charles River. An equal number of male (n = 10) and female (n =10) C57BL/6 mice were randomly assigned to a treatment group by cage. 4 animals were euthanized during the intervention making the total n=16. All mice were on a normal chow diet with ad libitum food and water and were housed in an animal care facility on a 12/12-hour light-dark cycle at 24°C. Alt-711 (1 mg/kg/day) or vehicle control (distilled H₂O) were administered, via oral gavage, to mice once daily for three weeks, followed by 1 week without treatment. This continued for a total of 4 months of study. Mice were treated from 20 to 24 months of age. After the mice were euthanized, tissues from posterior cerebral arteries and carotid arteries were immediately used to conduct ex-vivo vascular function analysis. All animal procedures conformed to the Guide to the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (8th edition, revised 2011) and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees at the University of Oregon.

Cerebrovascular function

Cerebrovascular function was measured via pressure myography by assessing endothelial-dependent dilation (EDD). Posterior cerebral arteries (PCAs) were excised and placed in myograph chambers (DMT Inc., Denmark) with physiological salt solution 145 mM NaCl, 4.7 mM KCl_2 , 2.0 mM $CaCl_2$, 1.17 mM $MGSO_4$, 1.2 mM NaH_2PO_4 , 5.0 mM glucose, 2.0 mM pyruvate, 0.02 mM EDTA, 3.0 mM MOPS buffer, and 1 g/100 mL BSA, pH 7.4 at 37°C, cannulated onto glass micropipettes, and secured with nylon (11-0) sutures. (Walker, 2015) Once cannulated, arteries were warmed to 37°C, pressurized to 50 mmHg, and allowed to equilibrate for approximately 1 hour. All arteries were sub maximally pre-constricted with phenylephrine (1-6 μ M to obtain ~20-40% pre-constriction). Lumen diameter was measured in response to increasing concentrations of the endothelium-dependent dilator, ACh (1x10-9 to 1x10-4 M) or endothelium-independent dilator, sodium nitroprusside (SNP: 1x10-10 to 1x10-4 M).

Passive stiffness

Passive arterial stiffness was measured ex-vivo in carotid arteries and PCAs. Arteries were isolated and cannulated between glass pipette tips on a myograph as previously described (Michiels, 2003). Prior to assessment, the vessels were incubated for 60-minutes in calcium-free solution to eliminate effects of myogenic tone. Lumen diameter and medial wall thickness were measured to increases in intraluminal pressure (Donato, Eskurza, Silver, et al. 2007). Measurements for each artery were recorded from 5 to 100 cmH₂O (3.7–73.5 mmHg) in 5 cmH₂O increments. Stress was calculated as:

 $\sigma = PD/2WT$

where P is pressure in dyne cm $^{-2}$, D is lumen diameter and WT is wall thickness.

Strain was calculated as:

 $\varepsilon = (D - D_i) / D_i$

where Di is the initial starting diameter.

Data for each artery were fit to the curve:

$$\sigma = \sigma_i e^{\beta \varepsilon}$$

where σ_i is the initial starting stress (5 cmH₂O) and β is the slope of tangential elastic modulus versus stress. A higher β represents a stiffer artery (Lesniewski et al., 2011 & Walker et al., 2014 & Singh et al., 2001).

Artery Histology

Sections of carotid and middle cerebral arteries (MCAs) were frozen in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) and then– sliced into 8 μ m sections using a cryostat (Nikon, Minato, Tokyo, Japan) and adhered to a charged slide (Michiels, 2003). Carotid and MCA slides were stained for collagen 1 (ab270993, 1:250 μ L) using immunofluorescence. Elastin content was acquired using autofluorescence. Arteries were fluorescently tagged using Alexa Fluor 647 (1:1000 μ L) goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L). Imaging of artery slides was captured using Leica Microsystems microscope (Wetzlar, Germany). These methods were quantified using FIJI by ImageJ software.

Accelerating Rotarod Test

To assess motor coordination, mice were tested using a Rotarod apparatus (Ugo Basile., Italy) over a two-day period adapted from Xhako et al (2020). Before each testing day mice were habituated to the testing room for one hour prior to the beginning of testing. On the first day, mice were placed on an elevated rod rotating at 4 rpm to acclimatize them to testing conditions. Mice needed to stay on the rod for 90 seconds to acclimatize to the rotarod rest. If the mice fell off before 90 seconds elapsed, they were placed on the rod again. On the second day, the mice were placed on the rod that accelerated 4 rpm to 40 rpm over the course of 5 minutes. Mice ran on the rod until they fell off or spun around two consecutive times and the time of fall was

recorded by the apparatus. Mice received three trials spaced 10 minutes apart on the second day. Data was analyzed using GraphPad Prism.

Nest Building

Nest building protocol was utilized to assess cognition. Mice were left with a cotton nestlet in an individual cage overnight with food and water and assessed on their ability to construct a nest. They were assessed the next morning according to a five-point nestling scale with various parameters (**Table 1**).

Score	Parameters
1	Neslet is >90% intact
2	Neslet is partially torn up
3	Neslet is <50% intact but <90% is within a quarter of cage floor area
4	Flat nest with >90% of neslet torn up, nest is flat with walls higher than mouse's body weight
5	>90% of nestlet torn up, nest is a crater with walls higher than mouse's body height
r	Table 1: Nest Building Score Parameters (Deacon 2012).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism 9. Group differences were determined via a student's t test. A Bonferroni correction was used to compare maximum endothelium dependent dilation across groups and dose conditions. Significance was determined by a p value of less than 0.05. All data was assessed for normal distribution using Shapiro-Wilks tests. All data is presented as mean \pm standard deviation. To determine correlations, a Pearson Correlation test was performed on all the data together, including both treatment and control groups.

Results

Ex vivo cerebral artery endothelial-dependent dilation and endothelial-independent dilation were not different between ALT-711 and control groups

In PCA's, maximal vasodilation to ACh was not different across groups (p = 0.3896, **Figure 1**). The administration of L-NAME, an eNOS inhibitor, resulted in minimal dilation. This result was found in both the ALT-711 group (p = <0.0001, **Figure 1**) and control group (p = <0.0001, **Figure 1**). The maximal dilation to doses of ACh while L-NAME was present was similar between groups (p = 0.3346), **Figure 1**). To examine the effects of ALT-711 treatment on endothelial independent dilation, we examined the PCA's response to increasing doses of SNP, a chemical that supplies the smooth muscle with NO directly. There were no differences between groups (p = 0.1309 **Figure 2**).



Figure 1: Vasodilation response to doses of ACh in the presence and absence of L-NAME, measured in PCAs in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 2: Endothelial independent dilation to doses of SNP, measured in PCA's in ALT-11 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.

Passive stiffness showed that wall thickness in the PCA and carotid artery was not different between ALT-11 and control groups. Collagen-1 immunofluorescence revealed that the thickness of the media layer of the carotid artery and MCA was not different across groups, and that the sum of the media layer and the adventitia layer of the carotid artery was thicker in the control group compared to the ALT-711 group, but this was not different for the MCA's.

Wall thickness was assessed via *ex vivo* passive stiffness measures as well as a collagen-1 immunofluorescence. Passive stiffness measure revealed that wall thickness in carotid arteries was not different across groups (p = 0.1961, **Figure 3**) and wall thickness of PCA's was not different across groups (p = 0.3558, **Figure 3**). Additionally, collagen-1 immunofluorescence revealed that the thickness of the media layer of the carotid artery and MCA was not different across groups (p = 0.1658, p = 0.0824 **Figure 4**). However, collagen-1 immunofluorescence showed that the sum of the media layer and the adventitia layer of the carotid artery was thicker in the control group compared to the ALT-711 group, but the this was not different for in MCA's (p = .0389, p = 0.3835 **Figure 5**)



Figure 3: *Ex vivo* arterial wall thickness in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 4: Thickness of the media layer of the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 5: Thickness of the media and adventitia layer of the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.

Elastin and collagen content in the arterial wall of the carotid artery and MCA was not different between groups

Elastin content was in the arterial wall was not different between groups in the carotid artery and MCA, respectively (p = 0.0539, p = 0.1224, Figure 6). Additionally, collagen content in the arterial wall was not different between groups in the carotid artery and MCA, respectively (p = 0.3470, p = 0.3147), Figure 7.



Figure 6: Percent area of the arterial wall made up of elastin in the carotid artery and MCA, via autofluorescence, in ALT-711 and control groups.



Figure 7: Percent area of the arterial wall made up of collagen in the carotid artery and MCA, via collagen-1 immunofluorescence, in ALT-711 and control groups.



Figure 8: Cross section of carotid artery after collage-1 immunofluorescence in control group (n=7).



Figure 9: Cross section of carotid artery after collagen-1 immunofluorescence in ALT-711 group (n=8).

Arterial stiffness in PCA and carotid arteries was not different between ALT-711 and control groups

To determine if treatment with ALT-711 reduced arterial stiffness, β stiffness, elastic modulus, tangential stress and strain, and changes in internal diameter with increasing pressure were measured in carotid arteries and PCA's. Carotid artery β stiffness was not different between groups (p = .0642, **Figure 10**). Also, PCA β stiffness was not different between groups (p = 0.3828, **Figure 10**). Additionally, the elastic modulus at lower pressures of carotid arteries was not different across groups (p = 0.1906, **Figure 11**). The elastic modulus of PCA's at lower pressures was not different across groups (p = 0.2293, **Figure 11**). The elastic modulus of carotid arteries at high pressures was not different across groups (p = 0.4168, **Figure 12**). The elastic modulus of PCA's at high pressures was not different across groups (p = 0.1949, **Figure 12**).



Figure 10: β stiffness in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 11: Elastic modulus at low pressures in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 12: Elastic modulus at high pressures in carotid and PCA's in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 13: PCA ex vivo stress-strain curves in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 14: Carotid artery ex vivo stress-strain curves in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 15: Change in internal diameter of PCA to increasing pressure in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.



Figure 16: Changes in internal diameter of carotid artery to increasing pressure in ALT-711 (n=8) and control (n=7) groups.

Instinctual behavior was not different between ALT-711 and control groups

To assess cognitive behavior, nest building scores were evaluated. There were no significant differences between nest building scores across groups (p = 0.5, Figure 17)



Figure 17: Nest building scores for ALT-711(n=8) and control groups (n=7).

Motor coordination

To assess motor coordination, time spent on the rod during the accelerator rotarod test was measured and analyzed. There were no significant differences between time spent on the rod across groups (p = 0.3151, Figure 18).



Figure 18: Average time spent on rotarod for ALT-711 (n=8) and control groups (n=7).

Correlations

To assess for correlations of interest, the treatment and control groups were pulled together, and a Pearson Correlation test was performed. This test revealed several notable correlations. The average maximum dilation to ACh is positively correlated with average rotarod time (p = 0.049, r = 0.44, **Figure 19A**). PCA low elastic modulus is positively correlated with PCA β stiffness (p = 0.019, r = 0.56), and negatively correlated with average rotarod time (p = 0.048, **Figure 19B**), and nest building scores (p = 0.035, r = -0.50, **Figure 19C**).



Figure 19: (A) The average maximum dilation to ACh is positively correlated with average rotarod time and (B) PCA low elastic modulus is negatively correlated with average rotarod time and nest building scores and (C) PCA low elastic modulus is negatively correlated with nest building scores *p<0.05

Discussion

One of the strongest predictors of cognitive impairment as humans age is the stiffening of their large arteries, specifically the aorta and carotid artery (Scuteri, 2007). Several animal studies have shown that increasing the stiffness of these arteries results in cerebrovascular dysfunction and impaired cognition (Muhire et al., 2019). However, the effect of *reducing* large artery stiffness, via ALT-711, on cerebrovascular function and cognitive behavior has not been studied. The stiffening of large arteries is largely associated with the accumulation of AGEs (Mcnulty et al., 2007). Therefore, the effect of large artery stiffness reduction can be studied through the employment of a drug that breaks AGEs, such as ALT-711. The investigation of this phenomenon could help elucidate a mechanism of age-related cognitive impairment and cerebrovascular dysfunction.

In this study, we examined the effect of large artery stiffness prevention, via ALT-711, on attenuating cerebrovascular dysfunction and cognitive impairment in aged mice. Contrary to our hypothesis, our data suggests that employing ALT-711 did not result in a reduction of large artery stiffness. Subsequently, ALT-711 did not improve cerebrovascular function, cognitive behavior, or motor coordination. However, we found that PCA low elastic modulus is correlated with average rotarod time and nest building scores. In addition, our data revealed that the maximum dilation to ACh in a PCA is correlated with average rotarod time.

ALT-711 did not improve cerebrovascular function

Contrary to what we hypothesized, ALT-711 did not improve cerebrovascular function. We expected the group that received ALT-711 to have a greater dilation response than the control group. We hypothesized this because previous studies have demonstrated that greater large artery stiffness reduces cerebrovascular function (Muhire et al., 2019). As a result, a

reduction in large artery stiffness, via breaking AGEs, could be a mechanism to preserve cerebrovascular function.

Our results may contradict our hypothesis because there was no evidence in our study that ALT-711 reduced large artery stiffness in the first place. One could reason that the arteries did not become less stiff, so they were not able to effectively dampen the pulsatile flow entering the brain. As a result, endothelial cell function was not preserved, and so the dilation response to ACh was the same in both groups.

A different phenomenon that our data supports is the concept of NO-mediated dilation. Administration of L-NAME, an eNOS-inhibitor, inhibits the ability of eNOS to produce NO after becoming activated by ACh. Accordingly, our data indicates that L-NAME inhibits the vessels ability to dilate. Treating the vessels with L-NAME allows us to confirm the primary mechanism by which cerebral vessels dilate; that is, NO travels to the smooth muscle and the smooth muscle facilitates expansion of the vessel walls. By confirming this mechanism, we know that making conclusions about a vessel's response to ACh is decidedly indicative of the vessel's ability to function and dilate properly.

ALT-711 did not influence large artery stiffness

Despite our expectations, treatment with ALT-711 did not have an impact on large artery stiffness. This was concluded by the interpretation of two values: β stiffness and elastic modulus. β stiffness quantifies the stiffness of an artery. Additionally, elastic modulus and elastic modulus at low and high pressures help specify the source of the stiffness. An increased elastic modulus at low pressures value indicates that elastin is the source of the stiffness – either from a decreased abundance or increased fragmentation. Conversely, an increased elastic modulus at high pressures that collagen is the source of the stiffness, likely from an increased

crosslinking of collagen or increased collagen content. We predicted a lower β stiffness and a decreased elastic modulus in the ALT-711 group. This was expected because previous literature has demonstrated that AGEs promote collagen crosslinking and that ALT-711 reduces arterial stiffness (Bakris, 2004). However, collagen-1 immunofluorescence revealed that the media and adventitia layer of the carotid artery was thicker in the control group compared to ALT-711. This indicates that ALT-711 treatment impacted the thickness of the adventitia layer in some way, but this did not impact the overall arterial stiffness. Also, ALT-711 treatment did not impact the elastin content in the arterial wall. This was what we expected because AGEs promote crosslinking of collagen, not elastin. Nevertheless, ALT-711 did not impact the collagen content in the arterial wall either. This was contrary to our hypothesis. We expected that ALT-711 would decrease the collagen content because previous studies have shown that ALT-711 decreases collagen cross-linking (Candido et al., 2003).

ALT-711 did not alter instinctual behavior or motor coordination

The results of the nest building and accelerator rotarod test were inconsistent with our hypothesis; ALT-711 did not improve their ability to perform on these cognitive tests. Nest building measures the mice's instinctual behavior to build nests. The results of this test can be used to make conclusions about cognitive impairment and brain function. Additionally, the accelerator rotarod can reveal information about muscle coordination by timing how long the mice can stay on the rod. We hypothesized that treatment with ALT-11 would result in higher nest building scores and longer times on the rod. This was expected because previous studies have demonstrated that aged mice have impaired muscle strength and control (Hamieh et al., 2021). Similarly, prior animal studies have shown that ALT-711 treatment results in improved working memory (Zakaria et al., 2015). One possible explanation for why our data contradicts

previous literature could be that our sample size was not large enough. It is possible that the experiment would have yielded more significant differences between groups if there was a larger pool of data to account for individual variation.

Correlations

After the control and treatment data were combined, a Pearson Correlation test revealed four correlations between the variables; PCA elastic modulus low is correlated with PCA β stiffness, average rotarod time, and nest building scores. Additionally, average maximum dilation to ACh is correlated with average rotarod time. The correlations between these variables supports evidence found from previous studies.

A higher PCA elastic modulus at low pressures indicates that the source of the arterial stiffness is from elastin, either from increased fragmentation or decreased abundance. Because elastin is a protein that contributes to the elasticity of arteries, an increased low elastic modulus could allow the contributions of collagen, a structural protein, to effectively govern the properties of the vasculature. In turn, this could lead to an overall increase in arterial stiffness, or β stiffness. There is evidence from previous research that shows that increased elastin degradation leads to stiffer arteries (Wagenseil & Mecham, 2013). Additionally, a decrease in elasticity could impair motor coordination on a test such as the accelerator rotarod. This is a relationship that other studies have identified too. Experiments performed with elastin haploinsufficient Eln+/- mice indicated that old haploinsufficient Eln+/- mice performed significantly worse on rotarod tests in comparisons to young Eln+/+ mice as well as old Eln+/+. Notably, a correlation between PCA elastic modulus low and nest building scores is also a result that is supported by other studies. The link between increased arterial stiffness and decreased

cognitive function is a phenomenon that is well supported throughout research (Cooper & Mitchell, 2016).

These correlations support our original hypothesis on the mechanism of age-related cognitive impairment. That is, if there is increased fragmentation or decreased abundance of elastin within a vessel, it will lose its elasticity and its ability to effectively stretch; this will lead to increased arterial stiffness. As a result of this arterial stiffness, cerebrovascular function may be impaired, resulting in decreased performance in cognitive and motor coordination tests such as nest building and accelerator rotarod.

The correlation between average maximum dilation to ACh and average rotarod time can also be explained by this proposed mechanism. A vessels dilation response to ACh is indicative of the health and function of cerebral endothelial cells. In damaged endothelial cells, their ability to dilate in response to ACh will be impaired. This means that blood flow to the brain cannot be effectively regulated. The link between cerebrovascular function and cerebral blood flow with motor coordination is well documented throughout previous literature. Studies have shown that cerebral hypoperfusion underlies motor impairment in various human diseases (West, 2021).

Limitations and Future Research

It is important to consider some notable limitations of this study. First, there are many complex physiological phenomena that occur during the aging process. Because we studied old mice (~20-24 months), it is possible that these other mechanisms could confound the effects of the ALT-711 treatment and complicate the results of the experiment. Also, because we studied old mice, perhaps it was already too late to prevent large artery stiffness. Another important consideration is the fact that we did not test if the collagen crosslinks were actually broken. As a result, it is still possible that ALT-711 did effectively break the crosslinks but this did not impact the stiffness. Additionally, we only tested cerebral artery endothelial function in response to ACh. There are other mechanisms that elicit vasodilation that were not included in this study. Further, it is helpful to acknowledge that the standard chow diet that the mice were fed was extremely healthy. Therefore, perhaps this diet was so healthy that the drug didn't have much of an effect. Also, the C57BL/6 mice model that we used has its own limitations. Because these mice are immune to many age-related cerebrovascular pathologies such as Alzheimer's disease, it is important that the impact of ALT-711 is studied in animal models that are more representative of the complicated aging process in humans. Finally, the ALT-711 used in this study was from a different supplier from the one used in clinical trials and previous experiments. This may be a reason why we did not see the results that we expected.

Regarding future research, conducting studies on lowering the number of circulating AGEs could be another avenue for reducing large artery stiffness and examining its effects on brain function. Also, investigating the impact of preventing the formation of AGEs in the first place, rather than breaking the cross links after they are formed, is another possible study that could help elucidate the mechanism of age-related cerebrovascular dysfunction and cognitive

impairment. Further, looking at the impact of ALT-711 on neuroinflammation and circulating levels of ROS could help shed light on the brain aging process.

Conclusion

The results of this study revealed that large artery stiffness prevention, via ALT-711, did not attenuate age-related cerebrovascular dysfunction and cognitive impairment in aged mice. However, the data showed that there were correlations between arterial stiffness, motor coordination and cognitive behavior. More studies targeted towards breaking AGEs are needed to better understand the relationship between large artery stiffness and age-related decreases in brain function.

Bibliography

- Bakris GL, Bank AJ, Kass DA, Neutel JM, Preston RA, Oparil S. Advanced glycation endproduct cross-link breakers. A novel approach to cardiovascular pathologies related to the aging process. Am J Hypertens. 2004 Dec;17(12 Pt 2):23S-30S. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2004.08.022. PMID: 15607432.
- Candido, R., Forbes, J. M., Thomas, M. C., Thallas, V., Dean, R. G., Burns, W. C., Tikellis, C., Ritchie, R. H., Twigg, S. M., Cooper, M. E., & Burrell, L. M. (2003). A breaker of advanced glycation end products attenuates diabetes-induced myocardial structural changes. Circulation research, 92(7), 785–792. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000065620.39919.20
- Chirinos, J. A., Segers, P., Hughes, T., & Townsend, R. (2019). Large-Artery Stiffness in Health and Disease: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 74(9), 1237–1263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019.07.012
- Cooper, L. L., & Mitchell, G. F. (2016). Aortic Stiffness, Cerebrovascular Dysfunction, and Memory. Pulse (Basel, Switzerland), 4(2-3), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1159/000448176
- Csiszar, A., Ungvari, Z., Edwards, J. G., Kaminski, P., Wolin, M. S., Koller, A., & Kaley, G. (2002). Aging-induced phenotypic changes and oxidative stress impair coronary arteriolar function. Circulation research, 90(11), 1159–1166. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000020401.61826.ea
- Cyr, A. R., Huckaby, L. V., Shiva, S. S., & Zuckerbraun, B. S. (2020). Nitric Oxide and Endothelial Dysfunction. Critical care clinics, 36(2), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccc.2019.12.009
- Donato, A. J., Eskurza, I., Silver, A. E., Levy, A. S., Pierce, G. L., Gates, P. E., & Seals, D. R. (2007). Direct evidence of endothelial oxidative stress with aging in humans: relation to impaired endothelium-dependent dilation and upregulation of nuclear factor-kappaB. Circulation research, 100(11), 1659–1666. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000269183.13937.e8
- Donato, A. J., Machin, D. R., & Lesniewski, L. A. (2018). Mechanisms of Dysfunction in the Aging Vasculature and Role in Age-Related Disease. Circulation research, 123(7), 825–848. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312563
- Dumas, A., & Knaus, U. G. (2021). Raising the 'Good' Oxidants for Immune Protection. Frontiers in immunology, 12, 698042. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.698042
- Elhusseiny, A., Cohen, Z., Olivier, A., Stanimirović, D. B., & Hamel, E. (1999). Functional acetylcholine muscarinic receptor subtypes in human brain microcirculation: identification and cellular localization. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 19(7), 794–802. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004647-199907000-00010

- Gill, V., Kumar, V., Singh, K., Kumar, A., & Kim, J. J. (2019). Advanced Glycation End Products (AGEs) May Be a Striking Link Between Modern Diet and Health. Biomolecules, 9(12), 888. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9120888
- Hamieh, A. M., Camperos, E., Hernier, A. M., & Castagné, V. (2021). C57BL/6 mice as a preclinical model to study age-related cognitive deficits: Executive functions impairment and inter-individual differences. Brain research, 1751, 147173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2020.147173
- Ionescu-Tucker, A., & Cotman, C. W. (2021). Emerging roles of oxidative stress in brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging, 107, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2021.07.014
- Jahan, R., Yousaf, M., Khan, H., Bibi, N., Ijaz, M., Rehan, T., & Shah, S. A. (2022). ZOMEC via the p-Akt/Nrf2 Pathway Restored PTZ-Induced Oxidative Stress-Mediated Memory Dysfunction in Mouse Model. BioMed research international, 2022, 8902262. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/8902262
- Kass, D. A., Shapiro, E. P., Kawaguchi, M., Capriotti, A. R., Scuteri, A., deGroof, R. C., & Lakatta, E. G. (2001). Improved arterial compliance by a novel advanced glycation endproduct crosslink breaker. Circulation, 104(13), 1464–1470. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc3801.097806
- Lesniewski, L. A., Durrant, J. R., Connell, M. L., Folian, B. J., Donato, A. J., & Seals, D. R. (2011). Salicylate treatment improves age-associated vascular endothelial dysfunction: potential role of nuclear factor kappaB and forkhead Box O phosphorylation. The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences, 66(4), 409– 418. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glq233
- Lüscher, T. F., & Barton, M. (1997). Biology of the Endothelium. Clinical Cardiology, 20(Suppl 2), II-3–II-10. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1932-8737.1997.tb00006.x
- McNulty, M., Mahmud, A., & Feely, J. (2007). Advanced glycation end-products and arterial stiffness in hypertension. American journal of hypertension, 20(3), 242–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjhyper.2006.08.009
- Michiels C. (2003). Endothelial cell functions. Journal of cellular physiology, 196(3), 430–443. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.10333
- Muhire, G., Iulita, M. F., Vallerand, D., Youwakim, J., Gratuze, M., Petry, F. R., Planel, E., Ferland, G., & Girouard, H. (2019). Arterial Stiffness Due to Carotid Calcification Disrupts Cerebral Blood Flow Regulation and Leads to Cognitive Deficits. Journal of the American Heart Association, 8(9), e011630. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.011630
- Rowan, S., Bejarano, E., & Taylor, A. (2018). Mechanistic targeting of advanced glycation endproducts in age-related diseases. Biochimica et biophysica acta. Molecular basis of disease, 1864(12), 3631–3643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.08.036

- Shetty, A. K., Kodali, M., Upadhya, R., & Madhu, L. N. (2018). Emerging Anti-Aging Strategies - Scientific Basis and Efficacy. Aging and disease, 9(6), 1165–1184. https://doi.org/10.14336/AD.2018.1026
- Sajithlal, G. B., Chithra, P., & Chandrakasan, G. (1998). Advanced glycation end products induce crosslinking of collagen in vitro. Biochimica et biophysica acta, 1407(3), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0925-4439(98)00043-x
- Scuteri A. (2007). Slowing arterial aging: how far have we progressed?. Journal of hypertension, 25(3), 509–510. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e328017f71c
- Sharifi-Zahabi, E., Sharafabad, F. H., Abdollahzad, H., Malekahmadi, M., & Rad, N. B. (2021). Circulating Advanced Glycation End Products and Their Soluble Receptors in Relation to All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Observational Studies. Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md.), 12(6), 2157– 2171. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmab072
- Thorin-Trescases, N., de Montgolfier, O., Pinçon, A., Raignault, A., Caland, L., Labbé, P., & Thorin, E. (2018). Impact of pulse pressure on cerebrovascular events leading to agerelated cognitive decline. American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology, 314(6), H1214–H1224. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00637.2017
- Wagenseil, J. E., & Mecham, R. P. (2012). Elastin in large artery stiffness and hypertension. Journal of cardiovascular translational research, 5(3), 264–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-012-9349-8
- Waghela, B. N., Vaidya, F. U., Ranjan, K., Chhipa, A. S., Tiwari, B. S., & Pathak, C. (2021). AGE-RAGE synergy influences programmed cell death signaling to promote cancer. Molecular and cellular biochemistry, 476(2), 585–598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-020-03928-y
- Walker, A. E., Kaplon, R. E., Pierce, G. L., Nowlan, M. J., & Seals, D. R. (2014). Prevention of age-related endothelial dysfunction by habitual aerobic exercise in healthy humans: possible role of nuclear factor kB. Clinical science (London, England : 1979), 127(11), 645–654. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20140030
- Wang, F., Cao, Y., Ma, L., Pei, H., Rausch, W. D., & Li, H. (2018). Dysfunction of Cerebrovascular Endothelial Cells: Prelude to Vascular Dementia. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 10, 376. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00376
- West, K. L., Sivakolundu, D. K., Zuppichini, M. D., Turner, M. P., Spence, J. S., Lu, H., Okuda, D. T., & Rypma, B. (2021). Altered task-induced cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism underlies motor impairment in multiple sclerosis. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 41(1), 182–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X20908356

- Winder, N. R., Reeve, E. H., & Walker, A. E. (2021). Large artery stiffness and brain health: insights from animal models. American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology, 320(1), H424–H431. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00696.2020
- Zakaria, M. N., El-Bassossy, H. M., & Barakat, W. (2015). Targeting AGEs Signaling Ameliorates Central Nervous System Diabetic Complications in Rats. Advances in pharmacological sciences, 2015, 346259. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/346259
- Zieman, S. J., Melenovsky, V., Clattenburg, L., Corretti, M. C., Capriotti, A., Gerstenblith, G., & Kass, D. A. (2007). Advanced glycation endproduct crosslink breaker (alagebrium) improves endothelial function in patients with isolated systolic hypertension. Journal of hypertension, 25(3), 577–583. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e328013e7dd